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Introduction





Ode to Istanbul


Stambul, peerless of cities, thou jewel beyond compare,


Seated astride upon two seas, with dazzling light aflare!


One single stone of thine, methinks, of greater worth by far


Than all the treasures of Iran!


Resplendent as the Sun whose rays the world in light enshrine,


Thy gardens, visions of delight, patterns of Joy Divine,


The shady nooks of rosebeds fair, of Love’s enchantments full,


Challenge the Prophet’s Paradise!


Ahmet Nedim*





In St Petersburg, A Travellers’ Companion, and similarly in Moscow in this series, the Introduction gave the briefest of histories about each city, concentrating on the genius loci, and the vision, attitudes and prejudices which their denizens had of their own leviathan. In the case of Constantinople-Istanbul, the city’s myths, prehistory, and recorded history span twenty-seven or twenty-eight centuries; ninety-seven Byzantine or Latin emperors and empresses as ruling sovereigns; thirty Sultans from AD 1453; countless major fires and earthquakes, disasters and acts of God and man. The sheer weight of history to be summarized would take up the whole Introduction, and in practice duplicate the competent summaries to be found in all guide-books, whether the Blue Guide, Çelik Gülersoy’s A Guide to Istanbul, or Ernest Mamboury’s classic Tourist Guide, written as long ago as 1925. In any event, this anthology’s own extracts cover nearly all the major events in the city’s history. So in this Introduction I have concentrated instead on certain themes, key-ideas if you will, to interpret the city’s past.


In the beginning there were the myths. Zeus seduced Io, and, taking her revenge, his wife Hera spitefully turned Io into a heifer mercilessly pursued by a gadfly. To escape her tormentor, Io swam the straits and so gave them the name ‘Bosphorus’, or ‘ford of the ox’. The earliest Greek coins show a cow on a dolphin. But Keroessa, Io’s daughter by Zeus, was herself mother of Byzas by Poseidon: and Byzas is the mythical founder of Byzantium.


The Argonauts rowed their way to the Land of the Golden Fleece (today Soviet Georgia) up the Bosphorus. Legend sites Pollux’s epic boxing-match with the ferocious King Amycus at Beikos. (Travellers were shown a plane tree there whose leaves, if chewed, made any boxer with the cestus or leather gloves invincible.) The clashing rocks of the Symplegades at the entrance of the Bosphorus and the Black Sea (or Euxine) spelt doom to all sailors, until King Phineus told Argo and his fellow heroes how to set free a pigeon, whose flight through the awful foam would guide them:




Jason shouted to each man to grip hard on the oars. The Argo dashed on as the rocks rushed toward each other again. Then there was such noise that no man’s voice could be heard above it.


As the rocks met, Euphemus loosed the pigeon. With his keen eyes he watched her fly through the spray. Would she, not finding an opening to fly through, turn back? He watched, and meanwhile the Argonauts gripped hard on the oars to save the ship from being dashed on the rocks. The pigeon fluttered as though she would sink down and let the spray drown her. And then Euphemus saw her raise herself and fly forward. Toward the place where she had flown he pointed. The rowers gave a loud cry, and Jason* called upon them to pull with might and main.


The rocks were parting asunder, and to the right and left broad Pontus was seen by the heroes. Then suddenly a huge wave rose before them, and at the sight of it they all uttered a cry and bent their heads. It seemed to them that it would dash down on the whole ship’s length and overwhelm them all. But Nauplius was quick to ease the ship, and the wave rolled away beneath the keel, and at the stern it raised the Argo and dashed her away from the rocks.


They felt the sun as it streamed upon them through the sundered rocks. They strained at the oars until the oars bent like bows in their hands. The ship sprang forward. Surely they were not in the wide Sea of Pontus.†





By the seventh century, men had replaced gods (at least according to the archaeologists), for a statue of Zeus Hippios and cyclopean walls have been found as evidence that there were Thracians and Megarians from Greece both in the valley of Chalcedon (today’s Kadikoy) and along the Golden Horn. The Chalcedonians disregarded the obvious strategic merits of occupying today’s Seraglio Point opposite them, probably because there was no fresh water there; nor did they choose the calm, protected waters of the Golden Horn, preferring the open seas of the Bosphorus. Seizing his opportunity, Byzas – allegedly inspired by the Delphic Oracle – installed a band of Megarians on the site of today’s Topkapi – the new Acropolis – and thought (according to Tacitus) the community opposite quite blind to their opportunities.* Thus the Byzantines irrupted into history, circa 658 BC. As later conquerors decided, here was a prize worthy of the fight; Philip of Macedon, for example, sought to capture the city in a midnight raid in 340 BC, but Hecate, Goddess of the Moon, foiled him by denying him the necessary visibility. In gratitude the Byzantines adopted the horned crescent, which the Ottomans inherited in turn. Who today would know the antique origin of the most famous of all Islam’s symbols?


As the heroic myths give way to recorded history, so economic advantage and military strategy combined to make the command of the Straits between the two seas of the Euxine (Black) and Marmara one of the keys to the ancient world.


Such a prize was as much a prey. ‘No city’, wrote the Russian historian of the Bosphorus, P. de Tchihatchef, ‘has had to undergo so many and so disastrous a number of sieges and assaults as Constantinople, none saw under its walls or within its confines so many different races racing from all corners of Europe and Asia and of Africa to stake their thirst for loot, or love of conquest, or indulge their raving religious fanaticism. Byzantium was twice besieged by the ancient Greeks (Alcibiades and Philip of Macedon); thrice by the Roman Emperors (Septimius Severus, Maximus, and Constantine the Great); once by the Franks, the Persians, the Avars, the Slavs, and by her own dethroned Emperor (Michael Paleologos); twice by the Bulgars; once by Byzantine rebels; seven times by the Arabs; thrice by the Ottomans. Of these twenty-two sieges, however, only six led to capture; by Alcibiades, Septimius Severus, Constantine, Doge Dandolo and the Crusaders, Michael Paleologos, and finally Mehmet II, the Conqueror.’†


Every traveller, every historian has had his say about the importance for the city of controlling the Bosphorus and its trade. One will serve for most others; in the words of the Imperial Envoy of the 1540s, Ghislain de Busbecq:




as for the situation of the City itself, it seemed to me, to be naturally placed as fit to the Mistress of the World; it stands in Europe, and hath Asia in view, and on its right, hath Egypt and Africa, which though Countries not adjacent to it, yet by reason of frequent intercourse and naval commerce, they seem as it were, contiguous: on its left hand is the Euxin Sea, and the Palus Maeotis, whose banks are inhabited round about by many Nations, and so many navigable Rivers have influx into them, that there is no thing that grows in any of the Countries there about, fit for man’s use, but there is a great conveniency of transporting it by sea to Constantinople.*





A Soviet strategist would hardly disagree today with this analysis.


Though the Bosphorus may be the same, its post-war story is one of incredible change. There is now the spectacular Bridge, the economic lifeline between Europe and Asia for all road freight, and plans for a second one. Hundred-thousand-tonne super-tankers, proudly flying the Turkish flag, glide smoothly under its soaring piers. Soviet cruisers, crammed with electronic gadgetry emulating that of the American Fleet, monopolize the naval traffic overwhelmingly; their commercial traffic represents over fifty million tonnes of goods annually. The banks of each side have become disfigured by thousands of concrete matchboxes required to house Istanbul’s population, which has exploded from one million after the war to six million today, and which is still expanding at some 6 per cent annually. Yet one constant remains, true not only between 1946 and today, but also under Ottoman and Byzantine rule: whoever controls the Bosphorus has a stranglehold over the traffic of the Black Sea. In the words of Peter Gilles, who described the Bosphorus in the 1550s, ‘the Bosphorus is the one key which opens and closes two worlds’.


So the Bosphorus gave the city a strategic value no other capital city in the world enjoyed, and trading privileges no fairy godmother could have bettered (no one would ever go short of fish!); and it called forth water-borne pleasures that enhanced the lives of its lucky citizens beyond compare. Even Venice could not offer cool woods of cypresses and plane trees overhanging the water’s edge, nor had Naples such variety within twenty square miles of the city. In that rather charmingly titled book The Diary of an Idle Woman in Constantinople (written in 1892), Frances Elliot reminds us that:




The real beauty of Constantinople is in its water. Water everywhere, clear, blue and shimmering; away to the far south the serene face of the placid Sea of Marmora, the Archipelago leading into it, and beyond the Dardanelles forming the channel to the Grecian seas . . . This immensity of water is wonderful: coming from one knows not where, disappearing one knows not how, ever kissing the shores as it entwines itself in every view, and lending such a strange and marvellous grace to all it touches . . . A watery mystery mingling with every-day life, magical and strange! What scenes does it unfold! What memories does it awaken! Mythic, poetic, actual! Classic Greece hard by. The wild downs of Asia, the Kurdish Steppes, the Russian ice-ranges brought to hand, the whole history of the East lying veiled before one! . . .





If at all possible, one should arrive and leave by water. My own childhood memories are suffused with the beauties of the Bosphorus. I first visited Istanbul as a schoolboy in 1946. My father had just been appointed Ambassador to Turkey, and the appointment carried with it two of the most magnificent perquisites an empire in decline could just afford; namely Sir Charles Barry’s Italianate palace, still used as an Embassy in the summer months, built on land given by the Sultan to Queen Victoria on the heights of Pera facing the Golden Horn and Old Istanbul; and the Makook III, a seventy-ton motor yacht built in 1914 for use as a Nile boat by the Khedive Abbas Hilmi of Egypt.


Polished copper and teak fittings, immaculate canvas awnings, a captain and his crew of six in royal Navy-lookalike ducks, an enormous galley for my mother’s chef to prepare elaborate picnics for the forty or fifty guests – it added up to a signal that a British Büyük Elçi (Ambassador) still counted for something on the world’s greatest waterway.


A day on the Makook was obviously paradise for a thirteen-year-old schoolboy, whisked out for holidays from the austerity England of Attlee. Down would sweep the motorcade to the jetty of Kabataş; out stepped my father’s Kavas, or bodyguard, Rustem, a fiercely mustachioed Albanian kitted out like a Guardsman, to hand my mother out of the Rolls, over the gangplank, on to the milk-white deck. The captain, after saluting the Elçi, ran up His Excellency’s standard (which Turkish naval vessels always saluted); our Turkish guests arrived. Lord Stratford would not have been ashamed. Amidst much swirling of melon rinds and throbbing of diesels, we cast off, admiring the elegant mosques and fountains of Beşiktaş, the Corinthian ice-cream opulence of the Dolmabahçe Palace, and the tomb of the great Ottoman admiral, Hayrettin Pasha (Barbarossa).


No tourist should neglect a cruise up and down the Bosphorus, even if he has no Makook from which he can admire the fortresses of Rumeli or Anadolu Hisar, today bereft of their pepper-pot towers but as dominant as in the day of the Conqueror Mehmet II. In seeing the charming villages of the upper Bosphorus, such as Kandilli or Beykoz or Tarabya, he will appreciate the genius of the Turk in siting his kiosk or yali (wooden summer-house) in harmony with nature and water. Acacias, sycamores, judas trees, willows, plane trees, parasol pines and, above all, cypresses surround him. Magnolias, the thirty-petalled rose, violets and the scent of jasmine delight his senses. The yali is a peculiarly pleasing form of art. No more really than an elegant tent of wood, painted rusty red (‘Ottoman Rose’), its main reception room overhangs the rippling waters of the Bosphorus, and its marble or stone quay has underneath it a caique house. Here, modestly, an awning or lattices would be let down to allow the pasha’s ladies to have a bathe. Inside, mother-of-pearl decorations encrusted the wooden walls, often enlivened with paintings of carnations, tulips and lilies whose reds and golds contrasted with the deep blue of their painted vase. In the centre of the room there were bubbling fountains (the fiskiyeh), and in winter the comforting warmth of a charcoal brazier (mangal). In grander eighteenth-century yalis (such as those of the Ostrorogs at Kandilli) enormous mirrors reflected the sun-dappled waters, magnificent carpets and low bolsters awaited guests. Rising steeply behind the yali there were mysterious gardens beautified by marble fountains. Fortunately, enough still remain to recreate this paradise for us. No wonder the Sultans signed treaties in their yalis, and the Grand Viziers would receive negotiators, arriving waterborne for ices, coffee, sherbet, and a pipe.*


From such a vantage-point, the Ottoman delighted in contemplating nature – swift-flying shearwaters at dusk (who, it was said, reminded him of the souls of the damned flying to rejoin their corpses in Scutari’s great cemetery); flights of exhausted quails from Russia falling into nets cunningly prepared to catch them; gambolling porpoise-schools; the sleek cormorant hunting for his lunch; the fisherman catching swordfish or bonito or turbot – or just listening to the squishy, lapping orchestra of the Bosphorus or to the song of the nightingale. Turkish ladies organized waterborne distractions. Here is Princess Zeynap at her yali at Bebek at the turn of the century:




In summer there were moonlight parties on the Bosphorus. Veiled in white yashmaks and wrapped in silk feraces (cloaks), the ladies would be rowed in long kayiks manned by several pairs of oarsman. Attached to the stern of the kayik, squares of cloth or satin, embroidered in gold or silver and edged with little silver fishes, floated on the waves. Musicians, both players and singers, preceded them in a separate boat, and as the oars dipped rhythmically into the moonlit waters, strains of music were wafted towards the following kayiks. The windows of the yalis were crowded with onlookers. It was an accepted custom for many other boats and kayiks to accompany the party on the sea, forming a long procession, the bobbing lanterns attached to the craft shining dim and yellow under the brilliant moonlight.





Arbitrary privilege might have ruled Ottoman society, but the Bosphorus provided pleasures for all. Indeed, it was on the Bosphorus, and on the Sweet Waters of Europe (today an industrial slum above the heavily polluted Golden Horn), that Sultan Ahmet III and his son-in-law Damad Ibrahim provided the most spectacular of all free shows, their tulip festivals which were usually given in the spring. General Baron de Tott observed in 1790: ‘Vases of every kind, filled with natural and artificial flowers, are brought for the occasion, and add to the splendour of an illumination caused by an infinite number of lanterns, coloured lamps, and wax candles, in glass tubes, reflected on every side by mirrors disposed for that purpose.’ Candles were also placed on the backs of thousands of tortoises crawling along the tulip beds. Such was the Tulip Age (or Lale Devri) celebrated at the Çiragan Palace or at Saadabâd.


The tradition continued into the nineteenth century, using the eve of the Sultan’s birthday as the time-honoured occasion for illuminated displays of the Bosphorus palaces. Thus was night turned officially into day. Thousands of lamps would be strung along trees, garden walls, and houses by expert Jewish workmen. Sherbet was offered by pashas to the gawking people entering their water-front parks. All the grand palaces along the Bosphorus, glittering as diamonds in the velvety night, were lit up. ‘As the deepening darkness faced their outlines,’ wrote Emine Foat Tugay, recalling her girlhood, ‘the palaces of the Sultanas, the great yalis, and the rolling hillsides of the parks assumed an unearthly beauty.’ For her, it was the most beautiful sight she had ever seen.


The tulip festivals; the befezzed Albanian Kajikiçis in their white shirts and frail skiffs; that departed symbol of our own power, the Makook, scrapped by stern Treasury economy: all these are past and gone forever. Yet the sparkling Bosphorus beyond remains, commanding two worlds and two seas. When I revisited Istanbul in the autumn of 1985, and awoke to the inescapable first call of the muezzin to prayer, the very next sounds I heard were the raw screeches of the seagulls wheeling around the buttresses and minarets of Haghia Sophia, the booming basses of the city’s ferry steamers, and the rat-tat of the diesel engines belonging to the fishing-fleets chugging past the old Byzantine seawalls. Frances Elliot’s ‘watery mystery mingling with everyday life, magical and strange’ is still an essential part of Istanbul life.


Who would not feel sympathy for the tourist visiting the city itself for the first time? That is, the really curious tourist. Leaving the comfortable cocoons of a five-star coffee-shop or an air-conditioned bus, we enter the Great Church of the Holy Wisdom (Haghia Sophia), to contemplate, high above us, a serenely mysterious Mary and Christ Child in glittering mosaic, and two haloed Emperors who offer a city and a church to her; but as we admire their hieratic vestments, gold diadems, buskins, handsome black-haired heads and bold eyes, we realize – most of us, if we are honest – that we know almost nothing about Constantine and Justinian (when did we read Gibbon last?). On we move. Above the Imperial entrance we see a majestic Christ seated on a jewelled throne, towering above a prostrate suppliant Emperor Leo VI; in the galleries up the long ramp, another Christ, flanked by the bearded and glamorous Constantine IX Monomachus and the desirable Empress Zoë. Who were these departed captains and kings? Is this not a case of acute culture shock? The faces, clothes, inscriptions and ruling ideas remain coded mysteries, almost as remote as those of Egyptian gods and goddesses, or of the impassive Khmer rulers in relief on the walls of Angkor.


Another puzzle picture: on leaving the Great Church we find in the courtyard the tombs, or turbés, of Sultans and their families. We crane forward at, for instance, the dark-green catafalques in which lie the forty-eight children of Sultan Murad III. What catastrophe happened here? Upon it hangs the whole grisly tale of the Ottoman laws of succession.


By a religious ruling or fetva, the leading Ulemas of the Ottoman Empire had advised Sultan Mehmet II in the fifteenth century that he should safeguard the succession to the throne in favour of the eldest male in the Imperial family (Ekberiyyet) and not on a father-to-son principle. In practice this led to the barbarous custom of any newly acceded Sultan immediately killing any blood rivals, the most obvious being the children – male and sometimes female – of his predecessor (the ‘law of fratricide’). From 1617 until the fall of the Ottoman dynasty in 1924, the practice of bowstringing young princes was relaxed; they were confined to a few miserable rooms in the Seraglio (the Kafes) and forbidden to have children, though some sterile concubines were provided. Twenty-two Sultans, in fact, came from such enervated and neurotic stock, pulled out of their cage faute de mieux. At most, eighty deaths are attributable to this principle, and in its defence it can be said it gave the House of Osman 650 years of unbroken rule and prevented the rise of an aristocracy of blood: no Bourbons, no Condés here. No visit to Topkapi makes any sense without a knowledge of the house rules of the Osmanli family: the children of Sultan Murad III had been executed in 1595 to ensure the unchallenged primacy of their brother, who became Sultan as Mehmet III.


Let us follow our crocodile of camera-festooned tourists into the fabled Seraglio, now called the Palace of Topkapi. Here another world of familiar, if contradictory, images crowds our imagination. A frowning and implacable Sultan, the ‘Grim’ or the ‘Magnificent’, sits on his throne, surrounded by kaftanned courtiers in turbans defying the laws of gravity; jugglers, buffoons and mutes cavort and cartwheel for his pleasure by softly murmuring fountains. Other images: the Janissaries break ranks, overturn their famous kettles, and mutiny: viziers are beheaded; the padishah (the original Ottoman word for Sultan) is himself strangled within his own palace. Yet another – understandably popular – image: the padishah, lord of two, three, even four hundred girls, indulges his every sexual whim in the total privacy of his domed, tiled, marble-lined harem, guarded by whip-wielding black and white eunuchs; he sets the girls to find jewels and sweets hidden in the flower beds or tossed into his fountains and pools, whilst he lolls voluptuously in the Erevan or Bagdad Kiosks where the ‘winner’ will later visit him. Such images d’Epinal, in their oriental version, are frivolous paradies of the organized and disciplined rituals that normally governed that extraordinary institution of Topkapi. Yet to understand them requires some knowledge in depth of the religion of Islam; of Byzantine or Persian court ceremonial, inherited gladly in many respects by the Ottomans; of their traditions of poetry, gardening, architecture, morality, and warfare. Acquisition of such knowledge can be fascinating, but it is hard work. The classic history of the Ottoman sovereigns, for example, written in the 1830s by Ritter J. von Hammer-Purgstall in seventeen volumes, is not yet translated from German into English.


Istanbul boasts not only an immensely rich and confusing history, but also an artistic heritage of unrivalled scope and variety. Consider a two- or three-hour visit that begins in the great Archaeological Museum of Topkapi with the finest of all sarcophagi to admire, namely that of Alexander the Great’s lion-hunt from Sidon (fourth century BC). Opposite it, we admire the Ottoman Çinili Kiosk (AD 1472) whose cuerda seca tiles and Isnik ceramics dazzle the eye. A few minutes away, there stands the simple and early (c. AD 740) basilica of Haghia Eirene, a classic of Byzantine architecture. Within a further five minutes’ walk the tourist is called upon to marvel at – and try to understand – the Sultan Ahmet Mosque and its associated complex (AD 1616); around the corner in the Hippodrome is the obelisk of Thutmoses (1500 BC) and the Serpentine Column, surviving even Apollo’s Temple at Delphi (479 BC) juxtaposed with the restored splendour of an Ottoman palace (c. AD 1525) that belonged to the Grand Vizier Ibrahim under Süleyman the Law-giver. And around another corner is the most extraordinary of all the City’s relics: the Column of Constantine (AD 330). Originally graced by a statue of Apollo, whose face was changed to represent Constantine’s, this venerable, time-blackened stump (called Cemberlitas by the Turks) was burnt in 1779; its base allegedly contained the treasures of the Palladium (or image of Athens) brought from Troy, the axe with which Noah made the ark, the loaves from Cana and the alabaster box from which Mary Magdalene anointed Christ’s feet.


Let us admit that the city is the world’s record-holder of historic and cultural gear-changes, visual contrasts, and immediate demands on our historical and aesthetic knowledge. This indeed is the City of Cities, legatee of its three great empires, Roman, Byzantine and Ottoman, which fashioned our own civilization. Though Constantinople-Istanbul may have been dethroned as a capital city, she is now taking a quiet revenge on us, for she has become a city of mystery. Confronted by bare walls, archaic scripts, and religious faiths which we have jettisoned, we have become ‘blind’ men, latter-day Chalcedonians. How strangely, for example, the anguished lament of a Byzantine historian at the city’s fall in 1453 sounds to our modern ears, how remote the Christian values that it mourns:




O City, chief City of all Cities, City Centre of all parts of the World! O City! City, the glory of Christians, and confusion of barbarians! O City, City second Paradise planted in the West with every tree abundant in spiritual fruits! Paradise, where is your beauty; where is that copious outpouring of graces so salutary for body and soul?


Where are the bodies of the Apostles of my Saviour, which were sown in this eternally green Paradise, amidst which there were the Purple Shroud, the Lance, the Sponge, which we could behold and see our very Saviour attached to the Cross? Where are those relics of the Saints and Martyrs? Where are the bodies of great Constantine and the other Emperors? The streets, the crossroads, the squares, the gardens are scattered with the noble relics of the Saints placed there by the impious; they are filled with the corpses of holy men and women. What a profanation!*





Fashions in history change, but slowly. The denigration of the Byzantines began with Gibbons’ famous judgement that ‘the division of the Roman world between the sons of Theodosius marks the final establishment of the Empire of the East, which from the reign of Arcadius to the taking of Constantinople by the Turks, subsisted one thousand and fifty-eight years in a state of premature and perpetual decay.’ Elsewhere he thundered inimitably against those ‘subjects of the Byzantine Empire who assume and dishonour the names of both Greeks and Romans’ and ‘present a dead uniformity of abject vices which are neither softened by the weakness of humanity nor animated by the vigour of memorable crimes’.† Lecky echoed this with his judgement that it is the ‘universal verdict of history that the Empire constitutes the most base and despicable form that civilisation ever assumed’. Neither historian could stand the eclipse of the first Roman Empire by the second.


The Pope in Rome and his Church over the centuries did not mind the humbling of their Orthodox brethren. They had, as early as 1074, ex-communicated the Patriarch of Constantinople, leaving a Bull saying so on the high altar of Haghia Sophia!


The verdict of Odo de Deuil, a Crusader and chaplain to Louis VII of France, gives the popular western view of the Greeks as early as 1156: ‘Constantinople is arrogant in her wealth, treacherous in her practices, corrupt in the faith; just as she fears everyone on account of her wealth, she is dreaded by everyone because of her treachery and faithlessness. If she did not have these vices, however, she would be preferable to all other places because of her temperate climate, rich fertility of soil, and location convenient for propagating the faith.’*


Nineteenth-century travellers, famous poets such as Byron and Chateaubriand, and the thousands of other Orientalists following them, knew their classical history, and threw off their learned allusions to the Symplegades, or Leander, or Hecate; but though they might be intent on rescuing virgins from the slave markets (as was Lamartine) or meeting pashas and the padishah himself, they had no room in their Ottomania for the Turkish Empire’s precursor. When Lamartine rose at dawn to admire the sea view from his brig in May 1833, he exclaimed – gazing at the Seraglio point – that ‘it was there that God and man, nature and art, had placed or created in harmony the most marvellous view that the human eye could contemplate on earth,’† without any credit to Justinian who had created part of that harmony with Haghia Sophia, or Theodosius II who had built the great land walls. Lamartine dismissed the Great Church: ‘considering the barbarity of art which presides over this mass of stone, it was a work born at a time of corruption and decadence . . . a confused and vulgar souvenir of departed fashion’.‡ Byron preferred the gothic Cathedral of Seville to Haghia Sophia.


The fact that the Byzantine Empire lasted for over a thousand years, preserved Roman law and orthodox Christianity, and saved the West itself by containing the Saracens, Arabs, Persians and other barbarian hordes, still counts for little against such a bad press.


Strange distortions result even today. Contrasts are emphasized (Christian-Muslim, the Cross-the Crescent) when what strikes the onlooker as forcefully, historically or topographically, are the links, and the fascinating continuities of Byzantine and Ottoman history. It could certainly be argued that the succeeding rulers of the city and their peoples have more in common than in contrast. Are there any real breaks between the Greeks and the ‘new’ Romans, between the latter and the Byzantine ‘Greeks’, or between the miserably few remaining Greeks of 1453 and the Ottomans? Constantine might worship the true Cross his mother Saint Helena had found, but he also enjoyed the sensuous forms of statues of Aphrodite of Cnidos by Praxiteles, Athena from Lindos and Zeus by Phidias which had been looted from other shrines to adorn his capital. The Muslim worshipped happily not only in the Great Church turned into a mosque, but in Kariye Camii (formerly St Saviour in Chora) in the Fethiye Camii (formerly the Theotokos Pammacaristos), in the mosque of Fenari Isa (formerly the monastery of Constantine Lips), in the (misnamed) Küçük Aya Sofya (formerly the Church of Saints Sergius and Bacchus), in Gül Camii (or St Theodosia). This list is not exhaustive. The ordinances of a Justinian set on beautifying his city would be echoed by Ottoman town-planners, who were just as ruthless in safeguarding their sovereigns’ pleasure. Here is a sixth-century decree:




In this our royal city one of the most pleasant amenities is the view of the sea; and to preserve it we enacted that no building should be erected within 100 feet of the sea front. This law has been circumvented by certain individuals. They first put up buildings conforming with this law; then put up in front of them awnings which cut off the sea view without breaking the law; next put up a building inside the awning; and finally remove the awning. Anyone who offends in this way must be made to demolish the building he has put up and further pay a fine of ten pounds of gold.*





What is the debt of the great Ottoman architects to their Byzantine colleagues? The latter had improved on that simple Roman box, the basilica, with a rounded eastern end or apse. When Justinian’s two architects of genius, Anthemius of Tralles and Isidore of Miletus, came in AD 532 to exploit the potential of the dome, symbol of heaven, they placed a super-dome of thirty-three metres in diameter upon two semidomes, supported by piers and pendentives. The traditional basilica had been superseded forever by the boldest of all churches, enclosing space whose only boundary was not a rectangle, but a soaring dome lifting body and soul to God. As Procopius said, ‘the dome seemed not to rest upon the walls but to be suspended from without’; and the columns were arranged like ‘the dancers in a chorus’, combining vastness of space with an effortlessness achieved, as it were, by a miracle, and a sense of continual movement towards the Holy Spirit of Wisdom. The Conqueror in 1453 immediately re-dedicated this marvel to his God and to his Prophet, and its essential principles henceforth inspired Ottoman architecture, with some fascinating differences that may be classified as steps in evolution but not the break of a revolution.


The symbol of the Justinian dome, the idea of the circle representing God (supported on semidomes) was kept. The Ottoman architect Sinan and his school turned this Sophian dome of less than a hemisphere (or 162°) into proper hemispheres, and the semidomes, from being saucers, into full quarter-spheres. As a result, in all the great mosques we enjoy the amazing effect of dome cascading upon dome, so satisfying to the eye. They indeed have splendidly monumental, dominating, finished exteriors, in ways which Haghia Sophia, with her clumsy great buttresses, does not emulate: the Byzantines, after all, were not unduly concerned about the aesthetics of the exterior of the Great Church. She stood on her own by the Great Palace, the Baths of Zeuxippus, the Processional Way, and the Hippodrome, and thus had plenty of competition. In contrast, every great Imperial mosque is the centre of its own complex (the Külliye) of university lecture rooms, students’ cells, kitchens, imarets or soup kitchens, fountains, tombs, and libraries. Caravans also needed somewhere to rest.


Without doubt, too, the unique audacity of Haghia Sophia, unrivalled by any later Byzantine church in scale, decoration, or spirituality, provoked Süleyman, and his architect Sinan to take up the challenge. Islam would have its own masterpiece of genius in the Süleymaniye Mosque. Süleyman and Justinian created empires of like immensity; and in their worship of God, their mosque and church share the honours.


Necessity, in a climate with very hot summers, laid on both Byzantine and Ottoman the need for a highly developed system of water supply. In providing it they shared the same creative genius. Never has a city boasted such a splendid network of reservoirs, cisterns, aqueducts, fountains and baths. The emperors themselves, legatees of the best in Roman civil engineering, took a great pride in these monuments; and Süleyman is recorded as saying that the building of waterworks was one of the three great tasks of his life (the other two being the Süleymaniye complex, and the siege of Vienna). Hadrian’s and then Valens’ aqueducts still dominate the Beyazit district today, after 1600 years. Byzantine hydraulics still ensure the reliable supply of clean pure water from the great reservoirs in the Forest of Belgrade on the European side of the Bosphorus. The names of Valens, Justinian and Andronicus Comnenus are not to be forgotten as creators of this asset of the city, emulated in their time by Süleyman (assisted naturally by Sinan as his architect) and Mahmoud I. With his need to wash before prayers, to relax in elaborate and luxurious baths or hammans, to drink water and not wine, and notably in his generous impulse to endow fountains of every conceivable shape and size, the Muslim had an even greater need for water than his Christian predecessors. Add to these motives the huge population explosion in the city in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, and the need to improve on the Byzantine systems became imperative – though even today some Byzantine sewers are still, I am told, in use.


A closer look at certain key customs and institutions in the Byzantine and Ottoman Empires reveals a fascinating continuity – if not in name, then certainly in idea. Roman emperors claimed descent from the gods. The Byzantine emperor – once the Pontifex Maximus – was the divinely appointed vice-regent of God on earth; he was head of the Church and took priority over the Patriarch, whose office was but a department of State. At the great ecumenical councils, it was the emperor who presided. As emperor, Leo the Isaurian wrote to the Pope: ‘I am Emperor and priest, whom God has ordered to feed his flock like Peter, Prince of the Apostles.’* The padishah was also caliph, and appointed his Seyh-ül-Islam (or Chief Priest) and the other leading muftis and imams. Of course, holy men could thunder excommunications or, in the case of the senior Islamic priests, deliver a fetva sanctioning deposition of a padishah, but then martyrdom or exile awaited any imprudent ruler who had not counted the temporal odds against such lèsemajesté. In short, both empires came very close to sharing the same definition of theocracy, with a corresponding impact on the character of the city’s religious buildings. As for theology, both Byzantine Orthodoxy and the Holy Koran rested, above all, on one tenet: conservatism.


The Great Palace of the Emperors was a sacred palace. One of the wonders of the world, its grandest dining-room (the Triclinos of the Nineteen) combined the idea of a Roman banquet with the Last Supper. Most state rooms were matched by a chapel or church. Pilgrims flocked from the four corners of the world to kneel in amazed worship before the portrait of Our Lady painted by St Luke, the Holy Wood of the Cross, the Holy Lance, the Cross of Thorns, the Holy Nails, even the Rod of Moses and the Mantle of Elijah (all treasures looted in 1204 or later by the avid bagmen of the Fourth Crusade). The identity of ruler with a semi-divine status had been created. The padishah, too, had his own monopoly of Holy Relics, jealously kept within the seraglio: the hair of the Prophet, his tooth, his Holy Mantle, above all the green sacred battle-standard used to proclaim Holy War against the infidel, or perhaps to quell rebellious mobs of Janissaries.
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